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100% yes. 1.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC11-02757 
CASE NAME: NATALE VS. DUMAS 
HEARING ON MOTION TO VACATE OR RECONSIDER ORDER GRANTING SANCTIONS 
FILED BY RICK ALAN DUMAS, TAMARA DUMAS 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
Appearance required.  See also line 19. 

  

 2.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC14-01795 
CASE NAME: VICTOR DELGADO VS. 24 HOUR FITNESS 
HEARING ON DEMURRER TO 1st Amended COMPLAINT of DELGADO 
FILED BY 24 HOUR FITNESS USA INC. 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
The demurrer is continued to December 7, 2016 to permit the parties an opportunity to comply 
with Code of Civil Procedure (“CCP”) § 430.41. Defense counsel shall file and serve a 
declaration that complies with CCP § 430.41 on or before November 30, 2016. 

  

 3.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC14-01795 
CASE NAME: VICTOR DELGADO VS. 24 HOUR FITNESS 
HEARING ON MOTION TO STRIKE 
FILED BY 24 HOUR FITNESS USA INC. 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
Continued to December 7, 2016. 

  

 4.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC14-01875 
CASE NAME: WILLS VS. GARCIA 
HEARING ON MOTION TO ENFORCE SETTLEMENT 
FILED BY LOIS J. WILLS 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
Dropped from calendar by moving party. 
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 5.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC15-00172 
CASE NAME: LEVY VS. PITTSBURG UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT 
HEARING ON MOTION TO COMPEL DEPOSITION & REQUEST FOR SANCTIONS 
FILED BY PITTSBURG UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT, et al. 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
Motion to Compel Deposition is granted.  Plaintiff shall cooperate with setting the deposition to 
be taken within 20 days of the date of this hearing.  Sanctions are referred. 

  

 6.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC15-00172 
CASE NAME: LEVY VS. PITTSBURG UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT 
HEARING ON MOTION TO BE RELIEVED AS COUNSEL 
FILED BY HARLAN LEVY 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
The motion is granted with the effective date after the deposition of Plaintiff is completed. 

  

 7.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC15-00411 
CASE NAME: ANDERSON VS. BANK OF AMERICA 
HEARING ON MOTION FOR RECONSIDERATION OF DECISION TO REINSTATE DEFAULT 
FILED BY MEI-YING KAO 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
Denied.  Defendant has failed to show good cause and to present any legal basis on which the 
motion for reconsideration could be granted. 

  

 8.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC15-00935 
CASE NAME: SOGHOMONIAN VS. COTAS 
HEARING ON MOTION TO ENFORCE SETTLEMENT AGREEMENT 
FILED BY PEGGY SOGHOMONIAN 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
Case resolved.  Dismissal will be filed within 30 days. 
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 9.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC15-01988 
CASE NAME: WOLFF VS. THOMPSON 
HEARING ON MOTION TO SET ASIDE SANCTIONS 
FILED BY DONALD WOLFF 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
Hearing dropped by Court. Entire case dismissed 11/14/16.  
  
 

  

10.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC15-01988 
CASE NAME: WOLFF VS. THOMPSON 
HEARING ON MOTION TO SET ASIDE DEFAULT & QUASH SERVICE OF SUMMONS 
FILED BY DAVID P. THOMPSON, et al. 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
Hearing dropped by Court. Entire case dismissed 11/14/16.  
  
 

  

11.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC15-01988 
CASE NAME: WOLFF VS. THOMPSON 
FURTHER CASE MANAGEMENT CONFERENCE 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
Hearing dropped by Court. Entire case dismissed 11/14/16.  
  
 

  

12.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC15-02231 
CASE NAME: MEHTA VS. KINDALL 
HEARING ON MOTION TO COMPEL RESPONSE TO DEMAND FOR PRODUCTION 
FILED BY GAYLE KINDALL 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
Unopposed motion is granted. 
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13.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC16-00729 
CASE NAME: GHADERI VS. SHARIFI 
HEARING ON DEMURRER TO  5th Amended COMPLAINT of GHADERI FILED 
BY FATEMEH GHAZAL SHARIFI 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
The demurrer is continued to December 21, 2016 to permit the parties an opportunity to comply 
with Code of Civil Procedure (“CCP”) § 430.41. The Court takes compliance with CCP § 430.41 
seriously, and expects the parties to, as well. The meet and confer efforts shall be substantive, 
and shall not merely be pro forma. 
 
Notwithstanding the argument presented in Ms. Sharifi’s reply brief, neither the Court nor the 
parties are free to ignore the requirements of the Code of Civil Procedure. Section 430.41 
requires a good faith meet and confer prior to the filing of a demurrer. That requirement was not 
met here.  
 
Defense counsel shall file and serve a declaration that complies with CCP § 430.41 on or before 
December 12, 2016. 

  

14.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC16-00795 
CASE NAME: ELIZABETH ZEELEN VS CHRISTOPHE 
HEARING ON MOTION TO/FOR STRIKE PORTIONS OF PLAINTIFF'S 
COMPLAINT FILED BY CHRISTOPHER  FAFOUTIS, MICHAEL FAFOUTIS 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
Hearing dropped at the request of the moving party.  

  

15.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC16-00827 
CASE NAME: JOHNSON VS. U.S. BANK, N.A. 
HEARING ON DEMURRER TO COMPLAINT of JOHNSON 
FILED BY FAY SERVICING LLC 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
Before the court is a demurrer (the “Demurrer”) filed by Fay Servicing, LLC (“Fay”) and Prof-
2013-S3 Remic Trust I (the “Remic Trust”) (collectively, “Defendants”). The Demurrer relates to 
the Complaint filed by Natalie Johnson and Mark Johnson (collectively, “Plaintiffs”). The 
Complaint pleads causes of action for (1) declaratory relief and (2) cancellation of instruments. 
Defendants demur to the first cause of action on the g6rounds that declaratory relief is not an 
independent cause of action, and the second cause of action on the grounds that Plaintiffs lack 
standing, the cause of action is time barred, and Plaintiffs have failed to allege tender.  

The Court notes that the Demurrer refers to July 12, 2016 as the “Filing Date of First Amended 
Complaint.” On July 12, 2016 Plaintiffs filed a Doe Amendment to their Complaint filed May 13, 
2016 naming Fay Servicing, LLC as “Doe 1.” There were no other amendments on that date. 
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Herein, the Court refers to the May 13, 2016 Complaint and the July 12, 2016 Doe Amendment 
together as the Complaint. 

In determining the sufficiency of a complaint against a demurrer, a court will consider matters 
that may be judicially noticed, and the demurrer as admitting all material facts properly pleaded. 
Serrano v. Priest (1971) 5 Cal.3d 584, 591. 

Factual Background 

The Plaintiffs allege in their Complaint that “Plaintiffs’ Deed of Trust and Promissory Note 
became void when their loan was transferred to a securitized trust after its Closing Date without 
transferring the Deed of Trust or Promissory Note.” Complaint at ¶ 1. Plaintiffs further allege that 
they “took out a loan with Defendant CITIMORTGAGE, INC. (“CITIMORTGAGE”) secured by a 
Deed of Trust (“DOT”) and a Promissory Note (“Note”)” on June 7, 2007. Complaint at ¶ 8. The 
nominal beneficiary was listed as Mortgage Electronic Registration Systems, Inc. (“MERS”). Id. 
Plaintiffs’ loan was then bundled with other residential mortgages, and sold to Citigroup Global 
Markets Realty Corporation (“CGMRC”) later that year. Id. at ¶ 9. The FAC further alleges that 
later in 2007, CGMRC sold the loan to Citigroup Mortgage Loan Trust, Inc. (“CMLTI”), which in 
turn formed a mortgage-backed securities trust, (CMLTI Trust 2007-10), which was then in turn 
sold to U.S. Bank. Id. at 10-12. Plaintiffs allege that these sales are “botched” because none of 
them included a verification of a chain of title. Id. at ¶¶ 17, 20, 47. As a consequence, Plaintiffs 
allege that the current Deed of Trust is not merely voidable, but void. Id. at ¶ 47. Plaintiffs FAC 
on its face discloses that the property has not been foreclosed upon, just that “Defendants will 
be able to use [the DOT and the Note] to assert a right to foreclose on Plaintiffs’ Property.” Id. at 
46. Plaintiffs allege that these documents are “dangerous to Plaintiffs’ proprietary interests” (Id. 
at ¶ 47) but do not allege that a foreclosure has occurred or is even in the process of occurring.  

Statute of Limitations 

Defendants argue that Plaintiffs’ claim to void the Deed of Trust is time-barred. Plaintiffs entered 
into the Deed of Trust with CitiMortgage in June of 2007 (Complaint at ¶ 8) and the alleged error 
in the securitization took place in October of that same year. Complaint at ¶ 20. Under California 
Code of Civil Procedure § 337 an action upon any contract, obligation or liability founded upon 
an instrument in writing must be commenced within four years. Code Civ. Proc. § 337. Plaintiffs 
concede in their opposition that “the 2007 failed transfer may have fallen outside of the statute 
of limitations,” (Opp. at 10), but contend that the statute of limitations should be tolled because 
they “became aware of a failure in transfer to the securitized trust” in 2015. Opp. at 11. This 
argument is not supported by any authority and more importantly, the Complaint contains no 
such allegation. However, because the Court finds that the Plaintiffs lack standing, it need not 
reach the issue of whether the four year statute of limitations bars their claims. 

Standing 

Plaintiffs advance the theory that the securitization of their loan was defective because there 
was no assignment recorded before the subject trust’s close date. Complaint at ¶ 17 (“the 
official records of the Contra Costa County Recorder does not show any assignment of DOT 
from original lender CITIMORTGAGE to any entity, within the aforementioned 2007 REMIC 
deadline date.”). However, California law does not require that the assignment of a deed of trust 
be recorded. See Herrera v. Federal National Mortgage Assn. (2012) 205 Cal.App.4th 1495, 
1506 (demurrer based on lack of recorded assignment sustained because “the lender could 
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have assigned the note to the beneficiary in an unrecorded document not disclosed to 
plaintiffs”); see also Calvo v. HSBC Bank USA, N.A. (2011) 199 Cal.App.4th 118, 121-125. 
Furthermore, even if a recorded assignment were required, the transfer of Plaintiffs’ loan to a 
securitized trust after the trust close date is a transaction that is merely voidable, not void. See 
Saterbak v. JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A. (2016) 245 Cal.App.4th 808, 815 (“[w]e conclude such 
an assignment is merely voidable”); see also Yvanova v. New Century Mortgage Corp. (2016) 
62 Cal.4th 919, 942 (whether such an assignment should be deemed void or voidable “is 
outside the limited scope of our review”).  

Finally, Plaintiffs have failed to allege that they have suffered any prejudice as a consequence of 
the alleged defective securitization of their loan. See Siliga v. Mortgage Electronic Registration 
Systems, Inc. (2013) 219 Cal.App.4th 75, 85; see also Fontenot v. Wells Fargo Bank, N.A. 
(2011) 198 Cal.App.4th 256, 272; both overruled on other grounds by Yvanova, 62 Cal.4th at 
937 (“we are concerned only with prejudice in the sense of an injury sufficiently concrete and 
personal to provide standing, not with prejudice as a possible element of the wrongful 
foreclosure tort”).  

In Exhibit B to the Complaint Plaintiffs write “our Mortgage Loan is not in default status. It is 
active and current.” Complaint, Ex. B at 1. Yvanova is very clear. The Court of Appeals did not 
“hold or suggest that a borrower may attempt to preempt a threatened nonjudicial foreclosure by 
a suit questioning the foreclosing party’s right to proceed.” Yvanova, 62 Cal.4th at 924. That 
would appear to be precisely what Plaintiffs have attempted to do here, given that they are 
neither in default nor facing foreclosure. Plaintiffs lack standing to bring their claims for 
declaratory relief and cancellation of instruments. 

The demurrer is sustained, without leave to amend. However, the Court notes that Plaintiffs in 
their Opposition, for the first time, argue that “a foreclosure sale has taken place.” If the Plaintiffs 
are able to allege in good faith that their home has been foreclosed upon, that may provide a 
basis for an amended complaint. 

  

16.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC16-01367 
CASE NAME: LIGUORI VENTURES II, LLC VS. SUDHIR AGGARWAL 
HEARING ON DEMURRER TO COMPLAINT of LIGUORI VENTURES II, LLC 
FILED BY SUDHIR AGGARWAL 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
Defendant Sudhir Aggarwal’s demurrer to the complaint is sustained.  Plaintiff has failed to 
allege facts sufficient to state a cause of action. 
 
 1st C/A (Breach of Fiduciary Duty) 
 
 As to the First Cause of Action for Breach of Fiduciary Duty, the demurrer is sustained 
with leave to amend.  Plaintiff failed to allege facts sufficient to show it has standing to bring 
the action.  Plaintiff alleges Defendant Aggarwal, as manager of Copia, breached his fiduciary 
duties of care and loyalty to Copia (the “LLC”) and its members.   
  
 The principles of derivative lawsuits applicable to corporations likewise apply to a limited 
liability companies. (Paclink Communications Internat. v. Superior Court (2001) 90 Cal.App.4th 
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958, 963. “Because members of the LLC hold no direct ownership interest in the company's 
assets (Corp. Code, § 17300), the members cannot be directly injured when the company is 
improperly deprived of …assets. (Paclink Communications Internat. v. Superior Court (2001) 90 
Cal.App.4th 958, 964.     
 
 The issue here is whether Plaintiff has alleged a derivative action or direct claim against 
Aggarwal. “In determining whether an individual action as opposed to a derivative action lies, a 
court looks at ‘the gravamen of the wrong alleged in the pleadings.’ [Citation.]”  (Paclink 
Communications Internat. v. Superior Court (2001) 90 Cal.App.4th 958, 965.  The action is 
derivative (in the corporate right), “if the gravamen of the complaint is injury to the corporation, 
or to the whole body of its stock and property without any severance or distribution among 
individual holders, or it seeks to recover assets for the corporation or to prevent the dissipation 
of its assets." (Jones v. H. F. Ahmanson & Co. (1969) 1 Cal.3d 93, 106.    
 
 “The stockholder's individual suit, on the other hand, is a suit to enforce a right against 
the corporation which the stockholder possesses as an individual.' [Citation.]" (Paclink 
Communications Internat. v. Superior Court (2001) 90 Cal.App.4th 958, 964.)     
 
 Management owes to the stockholders a duty to take proper steps to enforce all claims 
which the corporation may have. When it fails to perform this duty, the stockholders may bring a 
suit on its behalf, a derivative suit. The corporation is made a defendant, but it is the real plaintiff 
because it alone benefits from the decree.  The stockholder derive no benefit therefrom except 
the indirect benefit resulting from a realization upon the corporation's assets. (Jones v. H. F. 
Ahmanson & Co. (1969) 1 Cal.3d 93, 107.    
  
 In the case at bar, Plaintiff alleges Defendant Aggarwal breached the duty by failing to 
timely exercise the EMAB Warrant, by failing to collect interest on the EMAB loan to Earth 
Mama, and by refusing to give the LLC’s consent to solicit offers from prospective buyers of 
Earth Mama. These allegations seem to be injuries to the company, not to Plaintiff specifically.  
“The individual wrong necessary to support a suit by a shareholder need not be unique to that 
plaintiff. The same injury may affect a substantial number of shareholders. If the injury is not 
incidental to an injury to the corporation, an individual cause of action exists.” (Everest Investors 
8 v. McNeil Partners (2003) 114 Cal.App.4th 411, 427.  Plaintiff has not alleged any injury that in 
not incidental to the injury to the corporation.  
  
 
2nd C/A (Decree of Judicial Dissociation (Cal. Corp. Code § 17706.02) 
  
 As to the Second Cause of Action for Judicial Association, the demurrer is sustained 
with leave to amend. Plaintiff alleges Aggarwal willfully and persistently committed a breach of 
his fiduciary duties by failing to time exercise the warrant, failing to collect interest, refusing to 
consent to solicitation of offer, and soliciting personal advice from the LLC’s attorney. 
    
 Defendant demurs on the ground this cause of action for judicial dissociation is 
derivative in nature, but the complaint is clearly brought without inclusion of the LLC as a 
nominal defendant.  Here, the gravamen of this cause of action is to expel a member of the 
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limited liability corporation.  Plaintiff is not bringing an action to recovery for injury to corporation 
or for injury to the individual stockholder.    
 
 Cal Corp Code § 17706.02(e) specifically provides:  “On application by the limited liability 
company, the person is expelled as a member by judicial order because the person has done 
any of the following…”  Plaintiff has no standing. The real party in interest is the corporation. 
This is a derivative suit.   “‘Even though the corporation is joined as a nominal defendant … , it is 
the real party in interest…  ” (Schuster v. Gardner (2005) 127 Cal.App.4th 305, 311-312 [25 
Cal.Rptr.3d 468].) 
 

  

17.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSD13-03803 
CASE NAME: KEITH KATZMAN VS. OLGA KATZMAN 
HEARING ON F/L MTN/OSC TO/FOR CCP SECTION 128.7 SANCTIONS 
( DANIEL W CANTRELL) (ATTY.) 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
Ruling will be deferred, considered and ruled on at the trial set on 1/26/17. 

  

18.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSL10-06463 
CASE NAME: PORTFOLIO VS. IBEABUCHI 
HEARING ON CLAIM OF EXEMPTION 
FILED BY PORTFOLIO RECOVERY ASSOCIATES, LLC 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
Appearance required. 

  

19.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSN15-0686 
CASE NAME: MCNEIL-NATALE VS. DUMAS 
SPECIAL SET HEARING ON: RELATED CASE C11-02757 
SET BY DEPT. 9 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
Appearance required.  See also Line 1 
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20.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSN16-0931 
CASE NAME: ANDERSON VS. CCC COMMUNITY COLLEGE 
HEARING ON PETITION FOR RELIEF FROM CLAIM PRESENTMENT REQUIREMENTS 
FILED BY SAMUEL ANDERSON 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
 Petitioner’s petition for relief from the requirement of presenting a government claim is 
denied. 
 

A party who wishes to sue a public entity, fails to present a government claim within six 
months after accrual of his cause of action, and is denied late claim relief may petition the court 
under Government Code section 946.6 to be excused from the requirement of presenting a 
government claim. 
 

The petition may be granted under the circumstances of this case only if three conditions 
are met:  (1) petitioner establishes he applied for late claim relief within twelve months after the 
accrual of his cause of action; (2) petitioner establishes that he failed to present a government 
claim within six months after the accrual of his cause of action through mistake, inadvertence, 
surprise, or excusable neglect; and (3) the District fails to establish that excusing petitioner from 
the requirement of presenting a government claim will prejudice it in its defense of the claim.  
(Gov’t C. § 946.6 (c)(1).) 
 

Here the Court finds that none of these conditions are met. 
 
Facts 
  
Petitioner's evidence establishes he successfully completed a Police Academy at Los 

Medanos College (“LMC”) in 1988, but that LMC misreported to the Commission on Police 
Officers Standard and Training (“POST”) that he had not completed the Academy.  He tried to 
become employed as a police officer for three years, but eventually discontinued those efforts in 
1991, after he was never offered a position. 
 

On January 22, 2014, when he was applying for a re-certification program at Napa 
Valley College, he discovered the error in POST's records and that it was based on 
misinformation provided by LMC.   (Anderson Decl., ¶ 6.)  Knowing he had in fact graduated 
from the Academy in 1988, petitioner started an investigation with LMC and POST. 
 

On July 3, 2014, petitioner requested all records from LMC regarding his participation in 
the Academy, including records authored and received by Lori Ritter.  Ritter had been an 
instructor at the Academy against whom petitioner had made a complaint in 1988 about a 
sexually inappropriate comment.  (Ex. A to Armour Decl.; Anderson Decl., ¶ 3.) 
 

On August 20, 2014, petitioner met with Robin Armour, Director of Admissions for LMC, 
who provided all the documents she said existed, including documents showing that petitioner 
was given an incomplete, and ultimately an "F," for a course he claims was unnecessary and he 
never enrolled in.  (Anderson Decl., ¶¶ 15, 17.) 
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On February 24, 2015, petitioner received an additional document, a student card.  On 
the front it showed he had completed the Academy.  On the back it showed that Lori Ritter said 
he had not completed the Academy.  (Anderson Decl., ¶ 20.) 
 

On January 14, 2016, petitioner presented both a government claim and an application 
for late claim relief.  (Galletta Decl. filed 5/20/16, ¶ 2 and Ex. A.)  The first was returned as 
untimely.  The second was denied on March 2, 2016.  The government claim describes the 
wrongful conduct as the misreporting by LMC to POST and the injuries as “Lost income in 
employment, loss of reputation, [and] severe emotional distress.”  (Ibid.) 
 

On or about March 16, 2016, POST corrected its records to show that petitioner had 
completed the Academy in 1988.  (Anderson Decl., ¶ 22.) 
 

On May 20, 2016, petitioner filed the instant Petition. 
 
Analysis 

 
The deadlines for the completion of various required actions are tied to the date of 

“accrual” of the cause of action.  Those actions include the date by which petitioner had to 
present a government claim under Government Code section 911.2 and the date by which 
petitioner had to present an application for late claim relief under section 911.4 (six and twelve 
months, respectively, after accrual of the cause of action). 

 
 “[A]ccrual of the cause of action for purposes of the claims statute is the date of accrual 
that would pertain under the statute of limitations applicable to a dispute between private 
litigants.”  (K.J. v. Arcadia Unified School Dist. (2009) 172 Cal.App.4th 1229, 1238; see 
Jefferson v. County of Kern (2002) 98 Cal.App.4th 606, 610.)  Accrual occurs when the cause of 
action is complete with all of its elements.  (K.J. supra, 172 Cal.App.4th at 1239.)   
 

Accrual may be delayed based upon delayed discovery of the cause of action.   (DeVore 
v. Department of California Highway Patrol (2013) 221 Cal.App.4th 454, 464-465.)  In a case 
involving delayed discovery, the cause of action accrues when the petitioner has suffered 
appreciable injury and suspects that someone has done something wrong to him.  (Norgart v. 
Upjohn Co. (1999) 21 Cal.4th 383, 397-398 and n. 2.)  Once the petitioner has that suspicion he 
must go find the facts.  He cannot wait for the facts to find him.  (Norgart, supra, 21 Cal.4th at 
398.) 
 
 Here, petitioner first suffered appreciable harm when the misreporting occurred in 1988 
and no one would hire him as a police officer.  See Davies v. Krasna (1975) 14 Cal.3d 502, 514; 
see also Yanowitz v. L'Oreal USA, Inc. (2005) 36 Cal.4th 1028, 1056.  That additional damage 
occurred later does not postpone accrual of the cause of action once appreciable damage has 
been suffered and there is actual harm.  See Jordache Enterprises, Inc. v. Brobeck, Phleger & 
Harrison (1998) 18 Cal.4th 739, 754 (“An existing injury is not contingent or speculative simply 
because future events may affect its permanency or the amount of monetary damages 
eventually incurred”); Laird v. Blacker (1992) 2 Cal.4th 606, 615. 
 

Petitioner discovered that LMC had done something wrong to him by January 22, 2014 
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when he knew that LMC told POST he had not completed the Academy.  He knew no later than 
February 24, 2015 that Lori Ritter had stated on the back of the student card that he had not 
graduated from the Academy. 
 

On the facts recited above, the court finds petitioner has not established that his failure 
to present a government claim within six months after the accrual of his cause of action was 
through mistake, inadvertence, surprise, or excusable neglect.  At the very latest, his cause of 
action accrued by February 24, 2015.  He therefore had to present a government claim no later 
than August 24, 2015.  He has presented no excuse for failing to do so other than that he was 
unaware of the six-month claim presentation requirement.  (See Petition at 5:26.)   Ignorance of 
the claim presentation requirement is not excusable neglect, however.  (Munoz v. State of 
California (1995) 33 Cal.App.4th 1767, 1778 (“mistake of law based solely on ignorance of the 
six-month claim requirement is not enough.”))  Significantly, petitioner's evidence states nothing 
about when petitioner hired an attorney or why he failed to hire one sooner.   (See Ibid.) 

 
This case is distinguishable from Ebersol v. Cowan (1983) 35 Cal.3d 427.  Ebersol found 

excusable neglect where petitioner diligently tried to find counsel throughout the claims 
presentation period.  Petitioner has not presented any evidence that he diligently tried to find 
counsel here. 

 
Petitioner’s argument that he should not have been forced to present a government 

claim while he was still trying to correct the misreporting is unpersuasive.  The one thing did not 
prevent the other.   He did not have to abandon his effort to correct the misreporting once he 
presented his government claim, nor could he postpone presenting his government claim just 
because he was continuing to request correction of the misreporting.  He had already suffered 
appreciable damage through loss of employment before 1992.  His potential ability to limit the 
future damages does not postpone accrual of the cause of action.  (Jordache Enterprises, Inc. v. 
Brobeck, Phleger & Harrison, supra, 18 Cal.4th at 750, 754; Laird v. Blacker, supra, 2 Cal.4th at 
615.) 
 

Further, the District has sufficiently established it would be prejudiced in its defense of 
the claim if the petition is granted.  Necessary witnesses and evidence may be unavailable.  
(See Newman Decl., ¶ 6, 7, 13.)  The 28-year delay here coupled with the innocent destruction 
of evidence shows evidence of prejudice or at least permits an inference of it.  (See Serna v. 
Superior Court, 40 Cal.3d 239, 250 (“a lengthy delay . . . may permit an inference of prejudice 
since memories fade and witnesses disappear”)) 

 
The District will similarly be prejudiced if it tries to defend by arguing that  

the misreporting was not the reason petitioner was unable to get a job as a police officer.  To 
support this defense, the District will have to try to obtain testimony from the places where 
petitioner sought employment – a doubtful prospect after 28 years.   

 
Finally, the Court finds that petitioner failed to present an application for late claim relief 

within twelve months of accrual of the cause of action.  For even though accrual may have been 
delayed until February 2015, the court finds that it probably occurred by July 2014.  The Court 
finds that petitioner suspected no later than July 3, 2014 that Lori Ritter may have deliberately 
misstated the facts about whether petitioner had completed the Academy in retaliation for his 
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complaint against her.  That is when he asked for documents she had authored and received.  
There are only two plausible reasons for that request:  (1) petitioner suspected retaliation or (2) 
petitioner wanted to see Ritter’s evaluations of his work at the Academy.  Petitioner has not 
suggested the evaluations have any relevance, however.  The issue is whether he completed 
the Academy, not whether Ritter thought he had completed it well.  Thus, in its fact-finding role 
on this Petition, the court rejects the second reason.  The cause of action accrued no later than 
July 3, 2014, and petitioner presented his application for late claim relief more than twelve 
months later, i.e., later than July 3, 2015. 
 

All of the Court's findings on this petition regarding delayed accrual are made for 
purposes of this petition only.  (See Devore, supra.)   

 
The Court also finds that equitable estoppel does not apply.  Equitable estoppel can only 

be applied where four elements are present:  (1) the party to be estopped must be apprised of 
the facts; (2) he must intend that his conduct shall be acted upon, or must so act that the party 
asserting the estoppel had a right to believe it was so intended; (3) the other party must be 
ignorant of the true state of facts; and (4) the party asserting estoppel must rely upon the 
conduct to his injury.  Driscoll v. Los Angeles (1967) 67 Cal.2d 297, 305.  Further, whether a 
public entity is estopped to assert the statute of limitations depends upon “whether the public 
agency acted in an unconscionable manner or otherwise set out to, or did take unfair advantage 
of petitioner.”  (Driscoll, supra, 67 Cal.2d at 306.) 

 
Petitioner has not identified the conduct of the District on which he relied and it intended 

he rely; or how he relied.  He does not assert that the District asked him to wait for the 
conclusion of the investigation before presenting a claim or told him he did not have to present a 
claim.   
 

Nothing the District did during its investigation after January 22, 2014 changes the 
timeline set forth above, prevented Petitioner from presenting a timely government claim, was 
unconscionable, or took unfair advantage of him.  Petitioner had knowledge and suspicion that 
someone had done something wrong to him at the times stated above.  He had an obligation to 
go find any additional facts then, through claim presentation and lawsuit if necessary, not wait 
for the completion of the investigation or the corrective action.  (See Jolly v. Eli Lilly & Co. (1988) 
44 Cal.3d 1103, 1111.)  He had already been damaged no later than 1991 and knew or 
suspected no later than January 22, 2014 that LMC had caused the damage. 

 
Petitioner did not rely on the March 2, 2016 letter of the District’s claims representative, 

Keenan & Associates.  He presented his government claim and application for late claim relief 
two months before that.  Further, that letter did not admit the accrual date was April 1, 2015.  It 
only accepted the characterization of petitioner’s government claim that the damages were 
ongoing until “April 2015.”   

 
Nor does the Keenan & Associates letter constitute an admission by the District 

regarding the accrual date.  The accrual date is determined by the Court, not by the parties.  
Furthermore, petitioner has not established that Kennan & Associates had the authority to make 
a binding admission on that point.  (See Evid. C. § 1222 (a).)  The authority of an agent is 
established through conduct of the principal not that of the agent.  (See Associated Creditors' 
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Agency v. Davis (1975) 13 Cal. 3d 374, 399-400.)  All that petitioner has presented is the 
statement in Keenan & Associates’ letter that Keenan is ‘the claims administrator” for the 
District.  That is neither a statement by the principal nor a statement that shows Keenan had the 
authority to decide for the District when petitioner’s cause of action accrued. 
 

  

21.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSN16-1195 
CASE NAME: MCDONNELL VS. STATE OF CALIFORNIA 
HEARING ON PETITION FOR WRIT OF REVIEW & MANDAMUS 
FILED BY MICHAEL MCDONNELL 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
Michael McDonnell’s Petition for Writ of Review and Mandamus, pursuant to Vehicle Code 
§13559 is denied.   
 
 Petitioner’s burden is not merely the burden of production to produce evidence to 
support his claims. Petitioner has the burden of persuasion to convince the court that the 
board's decision is contrary to the weight of the evidence. (Fukuda v. City of Angels (1999) 20 
Cal.4th 805, 820.)  Petitioner has not met his burden of convincing the court that that the 
department exceeded its constitutional or statutory authority, made an erroneous interpretation 
of the law, acted in an arbitrary and capricious manner, or made a determination which is not 
supported by the evidence in the record. (Veh. Code § 13559.) 
 
 The Department’s administrative review is limited to determining whether the 
preponderance of evidence showed: (A) Reasonable cause that person had been driving under 
the influence; (B) The person was lawfully arrested; (D)  Admonishment given regarding refusal 
to submit to chemical testing; (D) Refusal to submit to tests.  (Cal. Vehicle Code §13557.)  
 
A.   Reasonable Cause—Petitioner Driving in Violation of Vehicle Code § 23152 or § 23153 
   Probable cause that existed that Petitioner violated Vehicle Code § 23152. Officer 
Wentz came into contact with Petitioner while conducting a welfare check.  Petitioner admitted 
at the scene that he had been driving a motor vehicle.  Officer Wentz observed objective 
symptoms of intoxication:  bloodshot and watery eyes, odor of alcohol, unsteady gait, and 
slurred speech. There was also an admission of alcohol consumption.  (AR-3.)    
 
 Evidentiary basis for the Hearing Officer’s finding—The DS-367 (Officer’s Sworn 
Statement) and the Arrest Report.  (AR-4.) While Petitioner does challenge the Department’s 
finding on this issue, the evidence supports the findings.   
  
                                   B.  Lawfully Arrested   
  The administrative findings indicated Petitioner was arrested for driving under the 
influence pursuant to authority granted under Vehicle Code § 40300.5. (AR-4.)  This finding was 
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based on the totality of the evidence.  On page three of the Administrative decision, the Hearing 
Officer stated that it is reasonable to infer that the Petitioner was arrested pursuant to 
subdivisions (c), (d), and (e) of Veh. Code § 40300.5.  (Admin. Record-5.) 
 
 Petitioner seeks review on the ground there is no evidence to support Vehicle Code § 
40300.5’s application and the Department’s decision is based on guesses and speculation.   
The evidence shows Officer Wentz contacted Petitioner in the line of duty while responding to a 
dispatch for welfare check. Wentz found Petitioner passed out in his car with the engine running.  
After Petitioner was awoken, Officer Wentz suspected he was under the influence of alcohol.  
Under California law, reasonable cause to arrest can be based on the totality of circumstances 
at the time of detention, including petitioner’s inebriated condition.  (People v. Profit (1986) 183 
Cal.App.3d 849, 881.)   
 
 Here, the evidence shows Petitioner was unable to figure out how to turn off the car 
when awakened.  (AR-10.)  Petitioner displayed objective symptoms of intoxication:  Bloodshot 
and watery eyes, odor of alcoholic beverage, unsteady gait and slurred speech.  (AR- 3, AR-15.)  
Under these circumstances, it was reasonable for the officer to infer Petitioner could cause 
injury to himself or herself or damage property unless immediately arrested. (Veh. Code § 
40300.5(d).)  Moreover, the evidence would be destroyed. (Veh. Code § 40300.5(e).)  “[T]he 
metabolic destruction of alcohol and/or drugs in the body by the simple passage of time, 
commonly referred to as "burn off" in criminal law parlance, constitutes the destruction of 
evidence . . . .” (People v. Schofield (2001) 90 Cal.App.4th 968, 975.)    
 
 There is sufficient evidence in the record to support the Hearing Officer’s finding that the 
arrest was lawful.   
 
 
   C.  Petitioner Admonished Driving Privilege Will Be Suspended 
 
 Petitioner seeks review on the ground there was insufficient sworn evidence supporting 
the finding that Petitioner was properly admonished.  
 
 The Hearing Officer acknowledged that Paragraph 2 of the Chemical Test Admonition 
portion of the DS-367 of the Officer’s Sworn Statement (AR-9) was not checked. The Hearing 
Officer found there was evidence to support the finding that Petitioner was told that his driving 
privilege would be revoke if he refused to complete the required testing.  (AR-4.)  
  
 The court agrees with the findings of the Hearing Officer:  Wentz’s other reports, as well 
as the DS 367, demonstrated that she did advise Petitioner of his obligation to take a blood or 
breath test.  The DS 367 indicates that Petitioner said “No” when asked to submit to a breath 
test and “No” when asked to submit to a blood test. Wentz’ SRPD DUI Supplement indicates 
that Petitioner was advised of his arrest for DUI and Advised of Test Requirement.   (AR-5.)   
 
 The Hearing Officer’s reliance on the unsworn and sworn evidence in making the finding 
that Petitioner had been properly admonished was not improper. (Lake v. Reed (1997) 16 
Cal.4th 448, 466.)  Furthermore, Petitioner has not produced any evidence to support his claim 



CONTRA COSTA SUPERIOR COURT 
MARTINEZ, CALIFORNIA 

DEPARTMENT:   09 
HEARING DATE:   11/16/16 

 
 

- 15 - 

that he was not given the proper warning or consequences for refusing to submit to a chemical 
test.   
 
              D.  Petitioner Refused to Submit to or Failed to Complete a Chemical Test  
 
 Petitioner seeks review on the ground there is insufficient evidence to support a finding 
of a refusal to submit to chemical testing.  Petitioner maintains there should be no penalty for his 
refusal because Vehicle Code § 23612 is unconstitutional and violates the Fourth Amendment. 
Petitioner relies on his interpretation of the recent U.S. Supreme Court case, Birchfield v. North 
Dakota (2016) 579 U.S._____, 136 S.Ct. 2160.  In Birchfield, the Court found the statute in 
North Dakota that criminalized the “refusal” to submit to a blood test unconstitutional.  However, 
it further stated, 
 
 Our prior opinions have referred approvingly to the general concept of implied-consent 
laws that impose civil penalties and evidentiary consequences on motorists who refuse to 
comply. See, e.g., McNeely, supra, at ___, 133 S. Ct. 1552, 185 L. Ed. 2d 696, 710 (plurality 
opinion); Neville, supra, at 560, 103 S. Ct. 916, 74 L. Ed. 2d 748. Petitioners do not question the 
constitutionality of those laws, and nothing we say here should be read to cast doubt on them. 
 
It is another matter, however, for a State not only to insist upon an intrusive blood test, but also 
to impose criminal penalties on the refusal to submit to such a test. There must be a limit to the 
consequences to which motorists may be deemed to have consented by virtue of a decision to 
drive on public roads. 
 
(Birchfield v. North Dakota (2016) ___U.S.___ [136 S.Ct. 2160, 2185, 195 L.Ed.2d 560, 588-
589].)  
 
 Petitioner presented no evidence the California statute criminalizes the “refusal” itself. 
  
 

ADD-ON 

22. TIME: 9:00 CASE#: MSC-00467 
CASE NAME: EUN Y. CHO VS. C.C. KOREAN PRESBYTERIAN CHURCH 
HEARING ON MOTION FOR LEAVE TO AMEND COMPLAINT 
FILED BY EUN YOUNG CHO 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
Continued by the Court to November 30, 2016 at 9:00 a.m. 
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23.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSL15-03613 
CASE NAME: THOMAS VS. CONTRA COSTA COUNTY 
HEARING ON DEMURRER TO 1st Amended COMPLAINT of THOMAS 
FILED BY CONTRA COSTA COUNTY 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
Plaintiff’s original complaint contained 3 causes of action – two for negligence and one for 
violation of  42 USC § 1983 due process. Defendant’s demurrer was sustained with Plaintiff 
given leave to amend all 3 causes of action, but not to add any new or different causes of 
action.  The Amended Complaint now contains 4 causes of action, the negligence causes of 
action being eliminated, and three new and different ones added and the fourth being 
reallegation of the due process cause of action.  As stated, Plaintiff was not given leave to add 3 
new causes of action.  Nevertheless, since Defendant did not demur to the 1st and 3rd   causes 
of action, no ruling is made as to those. 
 
Defendant does demur to the 2nd and 4th causes of action.  The demurrer to the second and 
fourth causes of action of the complaint is sustained without leave to amend, for the reasons 
stated in Defendant’s Demurrer – the allegations of the “new” 2rd cause of action are 
substantively no different than the original one.  Therefore, as to the 2nd cause of action 42 USC 
1983 is sustained without leave to amend again, as there are adequate post-deprivation 
remedies which can be pursued, and no additional allegations can negate that fact.  The 4th 
cause of action for inverse condemnation is sustained without leave to amend.  There appears 
to be no valid legal basis by which a nuisance abatement can constitute a claim for inverse 
condemnation. 
 
Defendant shall file its answer to the 1st and 3rd causes of action within 15 days. 
 

 

 


